No. 45996-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

EUGENE ANDREW YOUNG,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-03740-1 The Honorable Ronald Culpepper, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Appellant WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. Assignments Of Error

- The trial court erred when it allowed the State to present text
 messages without adequate authentication in order to
 establish the crime of communicating with a minor for immoral
 purposes.
- The State failed to present sufficient evidence to prove all of the elements of the crime of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes.
- The prosecutor committed misconduct during closing argument when he repeatedly misstated the law of accomplice liability.
- 4. The prosecutor's misconduct during closing argument deprived Eugene Young of his constitutional right to a fair trial.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Did the trial court err when it found that text messages sent to a minor were properly authenticated, and when it allowed the State to present text messages in order to establish the crime of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes, where there was no evidence that the sending telephone belonged to or was ever possessed by Eugene Young and where the messages did not contain any unique information indicating

- that they were composed and sent by Eugene Young rather than a third party? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 2. Did the State fail to present sufficient evidence to prove all of the elements of the crime of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes, when there was no evidence to establish that Eugene Young composed and sent the text messages containing the immoral communication? (Assignment of Error 2)
- 3. Did the prosecutor commit prejudicial misconduct during closing argument when he repeatedly misstated the law of accomplice liability by telling the jury that it could convict Eugene Young as an accomplice to rape if he was "merely present?" (Assignment of Error 3 & 4)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

The State charged Eugene Andrew Young with one count of rape in the second degree (RCW 9A.44.050); one count of promoting sexual abuse of a minor (RCW 9.68.101); one count of first degree robbery (RCW 9A.56.190, .200); one count of first degree kidnapping (RCW 9A.44.020); and one count of communication with a minor for immoral purposes (RCW 9.68A.090). (CP 33-35)

Young was tried with co-defendant Claude Hutchinson. (CP 1; 1RP 4)¹ A jury found Young guilty of second degree rape, promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor, attempted second degree theft, and communication with a minor for immoral purposes. (CP 41-46; 9RP 1547-49) The trial court imposed concurrent standard range sentences, with a total term of incarceration of 250 months to life. (03/07/14 RP 17; CP 110) This appeal timely follows. (CP 125)

B. Substantive Facts

In the Summer of 2012, C.B. was 16 years old, and was rebelling against authority by running away from home, failing to attend school, taking drugs, lying to her parents, and sneaking out of the house to meet boys. (1RP 167-68, 169; 2RP 216, 223; 3RP 465-66) C.B.'s mother felt C.B. was "out of control," and sought help from the Juvenile Court's Youth at Risk program. (2RP 237-38) C.B.'s parents eventually entered her in a residential treatment program to address her behavior issues, but C.B. returned to her old habits soon after her release. (1RP 168; 2RP 216) By September of 2012, her

¹ The transcripts labeled volumes 1 through 9 will be referred to by their volume number (#RP). The remainder of the transcripts will be referred to by the date of the proceeding.

mother became so frustrated with C.B.'s behavior that she sent C.B. to live with her father. (1RP 168-69)

At the time, C.B. was enrolled in the Running Start program for high school students, run by Highline Community College. (2RP 204, 247) On September 25, 2012, as C.B. was walking home from the bus stop, two men approached her and started talking to her. (2RP 250-51; 3RP 475) The men, who she identified as Eugene Young and Claude Hutchinson, asked her to cash a check for them because they did not have identification. (2RP 253, 266) C.B. agreed, and they went together to a bank, where C.B. deposited the check and withdrew \$100 in cash, which she gave to the men. (2RP 256-57, 260) C.B. told Young and Hutchinson that she was 19 years old and a college student. (2RP 258-59) Young and Hutchinson then walked C.B. home. (2RP 261) C.B. gave Young her cellular telephone number before they parted ways. (2RP 261, 265-66)

C.B. received a text later that night, sent from the phone number that Young had given her. (2RP 268-70; Exh. P11A) C.B. and Young also spoke by telephone, and arranged to meet so that she could withdraw the remainder of the money that she had deposited for him. (2RP 269-7)

Young and Hutchinson arrived in a taxi to pick up C.B. around

noon on September 26, 2012. (2RP 270-71; 3RP 475) According to C.B., Young suggested that C.B. could make large amounts of money quickly by becoming a prostitute. (2RP 275) C.B. agreed, so she and Young and Hutchinson went to the Motel 6 in Fife. (2RP 273, 277) On the way, they stopped at the Tacoma train station and picked up another woman, N.H. (2RP 279-80; 4RP 675) N.H. rented a motel room on the second floor, and all four went inside. (2RP 281, 283; 4RP 678)

C.B. and N.H. got undressed and posed on the bed together while Young took pictures. (2RP 283, 284, 285, 286; RP4 688) Then, according to C.B., Young uploaded the photographs and created an advertisement for C.B.'s services that he then posted on an online dating site called Backpage.com. (2RP 283, 284, 285, 286, 288-90; 4RP 688, 693; 6RP 986; Exh. P6A-1) Within minutes, C.B. received calls and texts on her cellular phone from men asking to pay her for sex. (2RP 310) Natasha advised C.B. on how to negotiate and behave, and that afternoon C.B. met and had sex with her first customer. (2RP 312-13; 3RP 442)

Over the next two days, C.B. engaged in sex acts for money with 10 to 15 men. (2RP 314-15) C.B. testified that she gave Young the money she received from the customers in exchange for sex.

(2RP 313-14) According to C.B., Young and Hutchinson stayed in a motel room downstairs, and C.B. kept in contact with Young, coordinated her activities with him, and gave him the money she earned. (2RP 316; 3RP 396-97; 4RP 538-40, 583-87; Exh. P11A)

On September 28, 2012, C.B. was arrested by an undercover officer who had seen her add on Backpage.com and believe her to be underage. (2RP 328-30; 6RP 986, 990, 995) She was released to her father, but within a few days she returned to the motel and began seeing clients again. (2RP 2RP 327, 335; 6RP 993)

N.H. was also conducting prostitution activities during this time period. (2RP 330, 331) On one occasion, however, Hutchinson became angry with N.H. and demanded that she make money for him and not for Young. (3RP 447; 4RP 694-95) Hutchinson beat and raped N.H., then forced her to have sex with a third man who was also present at the time. (3RP 448, 449, 450-51, 453-54; 4RP 697, 702-05) Young and C.B. watched and did nothing, though at one point Young did try unsuccessfully to get Hutchinson to stop assaulting N.H. (3RP 452, 504-05, 561; 4RP 700, 700-01, 706, 707-08; 5RP 811)

Later, Hutchinson ordered N.H. to perform oral sex on Young. (4RP 708) Young told N.H. not to do it, but Hutchinson began

beating N.H. so she decided to do it anyway. (4RP 708) N.H. testified that Young allowed her to do it so that Hutchinson would stop beating her. (4RP 708, 709) N.H also testified that she and Young were in a romantic relationship at the time, so she felt that the sex act with Young was consensual. (4RP 708; 5RP 777, 780)

On October 2, 2012, C.B. unknowingly arranged a date with an undercover police officer, and was subsequently arrested. (3RP 459, 461; 7RP 1128, 1132, 1133; 8RP 1202-04, 1205) The officers also arrested Young in one of the motel rooms. (7RP 1033)

Earlier, on September 18, 2012, Hutchinson approached 17 year old R.E. as she waited at the Kent Station bus stop. (5RP 883, 840, 841-42) He commented on how pretty R.E. was, and began telling her that he wanted to perform oral sex on her. (5RP 841-42) R.E. did not know Hutchinson and was afraid that he planned to assault her. (5RP 846, 859) Then another man, who R.E. later identified as Young, approached and told Hutchinson to back off. (5RP 846-47) R.E. was relieved, and thanked Young for helping her. (5RP 8)

According to R.E., Young demanded that she repay him by cashing a check for him. (5RP 847-48) R.E. initially declined, but eventually agreed to do it in exchange for \$40.00. (5RP 848-49, 6RP

929-30) R.E., and Young began walking together towards a nearby bank, and Hutchinson joined them. (5RP 849, 851)

R.E. deposited the check and gave Young whatever cash she was able to withdraw. (5RP 858, 860, 861) Then Young programmed his phone number into her phone under the contact name "YG," and they went their separate ways. (6RP 873-74) A few days later, after Young's check failed to clear, R.E. went to the police to report the incident. (6RP 876-77) She also showed police texts she received from "YG" describing sex acts that he wanted to do with her and implying that she could make money quickly as a prostitute. (6RP 878-80, 943-44; Exh. 26)

IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

A. The trial court erroneously admitted evidence of text messages sent to R.E.'s cellular telephone because the messages were not sufficiently identified or authenticated, as required by ER 901(a).

Over repeated objection, the trial court allowed the State to present the content of text messages received by R.E. that expressed a desire to engage in sexual activity and suggested a way that she could earn extra money. (6RP 878-80, 883, 884, 886, 886, 943-44; Exh. 26) The State asserted that these texts were sent by Young, and that they proved he communicated with R.E. for immoral

purposes. (6RP 878-80; 9RP 1433, 1528-29) Young unsuccessfully argued that the State had not presented sufficient proof of authenticity of the texts or the identity of the sender. (6RP 886)

A trial court's admission of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Magers</u>, 164 Wn.2d 174, 181, 189 P.3d 126 (2008). Abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. <u>Magers</u>, 164 Wn.2d at 181.

The purpose of authentication is to establish that "the thing" authenticated is what it purports to be. State v. Monson, 113 Wn.2d 833, 837, 784 P.2d 485 (1989). Pursuant to ER 901(a), "[t]he requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." This requirement is met "if sufficient proof is introduced to permit a reasonable trier of fact to find in favor of authentication or identification." State v. Bradford, 175 Wn. App. 912, 928, 308 P.3d 736 (2013), review denied, 179 Wn.2d 1010, 316 P.3d 494 (2014) (citing State v. Danielson, 37 Wn. App. 469, 471, 681 P.2d 260 (1984)).

For example, in Bradford, Division 1 found that the State

introduced sufficient evidence to support a finding that text messages read to the jury and contained in an examination report had been authenticated and were what the State purported them to be, namely text messages written and sent to a stalking victim's friend by the defendant. Bradford, 175 Wn. App. at 928. The evidence included testimony that: for a substantial period of time, Bradford telephoned the victim and appeared at her place of employment on a frequent basis; Bradford also regularly appeared outside of the victim's house; and the content of the text messages themselves indicated that Bradford was the individual who sent them. Bradford, 175 Wn. App. at 928-29.

Unlike in <u>Bradford</u>, the State did not provide sufficient supporting evidence that Young was the individual responsible for sending the text messages to R.E.'s cellular telephone. R.E. testified that she met Young for the first time on September 18, 2012 and that Young programmed a phone number into her smart phone under the contact name "YG." (5RP 8406RP 873-74) Then, over the course of the next few days, she received and responded to text messages sent from the number associated with "YG." (6RP 878)

However, R.E. agreed that the fact that the message came from "YG" does not mean that the text was actually written and sent

by Young. (6RP 932-33) There is nothing in the content of the messages from "YG" that would establish that Young, as opposed to Hutchinson or some other party, sent the texts.² (Exh. 26) And the State presented no evidence that Young owned or ever possessed the phone that the text messages were sent from.³

There was simply no evidence to establish that the text messages were actually what they purported to be. The State failed to sufficiently authenticate the text messages, and the trial court erred by admitting them over defense objection.

The State charged and instructed the jury that Young communicated with R.E. for immoral purposes "by means of electronic communication." (CP 35, 94) Thus, without the text messages, there was no factual support for this charge or conviction. Accordingly, the error in admitting them without proper authentication or identification was not harmless, and Young's conviction for communicating with a minor for immoral purposes must be reversed.

² At their initial meeting, in fact, it was Hutchinson who made lewd sexual comments to R.E., not Young. (5RP 844-45)

³ It is generally recognized that unauthorized persons may have access to an electronic device. See <u>Loraine v. Markel American Ins. Co.</u>, 241 F.R.D. 534, 584 (D.Md. 2007) (citing Jack B. Weinstein & Margaret A. Berger, Weinstein's Federal Evidence §900.01(4)(a) (2nd ed. 1997)).

⁴ Communicating with a minor for immoral purposes is elevated to a class C felony if the communication is conducted "through the sending of an electronic communication." RCW 9.68A.090(2).

B. THE STATE FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT YOUNG WAS THE INDIVIDUAL WHO COMMUNICATED THE IMMORAL TEXT MESSAGES TO R.E.

"Due process requires that the State provide sufficient evidence to prove each element of its criminal case beyond a reasonable doubt." City of Tacoma v. Luvene, 118 Wn.2d 826, 849, 827 P.2d 1374 (1992) (citing In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

RCW 9.68A.090 is designed to prohibit "communication with children for the predatory purpose of promoting their exposure to and involvement in sexual misconduct." State v. McNallie, 120 Wn.2d 925, 933, 846 P.2d 1358 (1993). It is a class C felony to communicate with a minor for "immoral purposes . . . through the sending of an electronic communication." RCW 9.68A.090(3). Thus, to convict Young of this crime, the State had to prove that Young communicated with R.E. for immoral purposes through electronic

messages. (CP 35, 94)

As argued above, the State's evidence did not establish that Young was the person who sent the text messages. The State presented no evidence linking Young to the telephone from which the messages originated. The State presented no evidence that Young had previously discussed sexual matters with R.E. And the content of the messages did not contain any information that would identify Young, as opposed to a third party, as the writer and sender.

The reviewing court should reverse a conviction and dismiss the prosecution for insufficient evidence where no rational trier of fact could find that all elements of the crime were proven beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 103, 954 P.2d 900 (1998); State v. Hardesty, 129 Wn.2d 303, 309, 915 P.2d 1080 (1996). The State failed to prove that Young communicated with R.E. after their initial in-person meeting, and failed to prove that the text messages R.E. subsequently received were written and sent by Young. The State therefore failed to prove an essential element of the crime of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes, and this conviction should be reversed and dismissed.

C. THE PROSECUTOR'S MISCONDUCT DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT DEPRIVED YOUNG OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty secured by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution. <u>Estelle v. Williams</u>, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L. Ed. 2d 126 (1976); <u>State v. Finch</u>, 137 Wn.2d 792, 843, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). Prosecutors have a duty to see that those accused of a crime receive a fair trial. <u>State v. Charlton</u>, 90 Wn.2d 657, 664-65, 585 P.2d 142 (1978).

A prosecutor's argument to the jury must be confined to the law stated in the trial court's instructions. <u>State v. Estill</u>, 80 Wn.2d 196, 199, 492 P.2d 1037 (1972). A prosecutor's misstatement of the law is a serious irregularity having the grave potential to mislead the jury. State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 764, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984).

The law regarding accomplice liability is well settled. A person is an accomplice of another person in the commission of a crime if: "[w]ith knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she . . . [s]olicits, commands, encourages, or requests such other person to commit it; or . . . [a]ids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing it[.]" RCW 9A.08.020(3).

Mere knowledge or presence of the defendant is not sufficient to establish accomplice liability. State v. Rotunno, 95 Wn.2d 931, 933, 631 P.2d 951 (1981); In re Wilson, 91 Wn.2d 487, 491, 588 P.2d 1161 (1979). Even if accompanied by knowledge that one's presence will aid in the commission of the crime, a person will not be subject to accomplice liability unless the person is also "ready to assist" in the commission of the crime. Rotunno, 95 Wn.2d at 933.

However, during closing arguments, the prosecutor repeatedly misstated the law of accomplice liability to the jury. First, the prosecutor says: "When you read that accomplice liability instruction, you'll understand. **Mere presence** or encouragement. It doesn't even have to be by words. . . . just **mere presence** is sufficient for accomplice liability." (9RP 1439, emphasis added). Young immediately objected. (9RP 1439) The judge sustained the objection and told the prosecutor that he had misspoken. (9RP 1439)

Despite this, the prosecutor then reads the accomplice instruction to the jury, and follows that by saying:

That is what the instruction says and that's what I say. He's there with knowledge of what's happening. It's not just that he doesn't do a gentlemanly thing or an honorable thing by forcing Mr. Hutchinson to stop. By his **mere presence and acquiescence** to what Mr.

Hutchinson is doing, he's assisting; he's giving it his stamp of approval.

(9RP 1440, emphasis added)

Despite a sustained objection and a reminder from the judge that he misspoke, the prosecutor twice told the jury that it could find Young guilty as an accomplice to rape by virtue of his "mere presence." (9RP 1539-40) This was obvious and intentional misconduct.

Because Young immediately objected to the prosecutor's improper argument, his conviction should be reversed if the prosecutor's misconduct "resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict." State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (citing State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 427, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009) (citing State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984))).

The defense position at trial was that Young did not intend to forcibly compel N.H. to have sexual intercourse, and that N.H. felt that the oral sex she performed on Young was consensual. (5RP 777, 780; 8RP 1272; 9RP 1517) This contention was supported by NH's testimony: NH testified that Young tried unsuccessfully to get Hutchinson to stop beating her; that when Hutchinson ordered her to

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