#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

# EUGENE ANDREW YOUNG, and CLAUDE HUTCHINSON, APPELLANTS

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Ronald Culpepper

No. 12-1-03740-1 12-1-03741-0

#### **Brief of Respondent**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JAMES SCHACHT Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 17298

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

## **

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

Additionally, the content of the messages provided confirmation to RE that defendant Young or his accomplice, defendant Hutchinson, sent the messages considering references to (1) her prior knowledge of defendant Young as a fellow bus rider, (2) the circumstances of their meeting at the bus station, (3) the sexually explicit communication that defendant Hutchinson had used to initiate contact with her at the bus station, and (4) the fraudulent check transaction,

RE recognized the text messages on her phone as having been from defendant Young's number and she provided sufficient

authentication for their admission. Defendants have failed to show an abuse of discretion in the admission of this evidence.

2. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS INTRODUCED AT TRIAL TO PROVE THE ELEMENTS OF COMMUNICATING WITH A MINOR FOR IMMORAL PURPOSES BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

The test for sufficiency of the evidence is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Hosier*, 157 Wn.2d 1, 8, 133 P.3d 936 (2006).

In an insufficiency claim, the defendant "admits the truth of the State's evidence" and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from it.

State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "In determining the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is not to be considered any less reliable than direct evidence." State v.

Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). The court defers "to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence." State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874–75, 83 P.3d 970, abrogated in part on other grounds by Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004). Only when no rational trier of fact could have found that the State proved all of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt can a

claim of insufficiency be sustained. *State v. Smith*, 155 Wn.2d 496, 501, 120 P.3d 559 (2005).

The jury in this case was instructed that "It is your duty to determine which facts have been proved in this case from the evidence produced in court. . . . " CP Hutchinson 241-291, CP Young 47-97, Instruction No. 1. The first sentence of the first paragraph of the first jury instruction conveyed to the jury their role as the finders of fact as is provided for by the Washington Constitution. Washington Constitution, Article 1§21. *State v. Furth*, 5 Wn.2d. 1, 104 P.2d 925, 933-34(1940). Neither the court nor witnesses may invade the province of the jury because "the jury is consigned under the constitution 'the ultimate power to weigh the evidence and determine the facts." *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 590, 183 P.3d 267(2008).

The jury was also properly instructed on the elements of the communicating with a minor offense:

- (1) That on or about the 18<sup>th</sup> day of September, 2012, the defendant or an accomplice communicated with [RE] for immoral purposes of a sexual nature;
- (2) That [RE] was a minor; and
- (3) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

CP Hutchinson 241-291. CP Young 47-97. Instructions Nos. 44 and 45.

Review of the above elements shows that two of the three elements were undisputed. RE testified that she was seventeen at the time of trial, and that her date of birth was in 1996; in September of 2012, at the time of the incident, she was sixteen years old. 5 RP Trial 838-40. There was no dispute that all of RE's contact with the defendant's was either in person or by phone in the State of Washington. 5 RP Trial 843-50. 6 RP Trial 878-85.

Although not undisputed, there was overwhelming evidence of the third element. RE testified that defendant Hutchinson came up to her first and "walked up to me and kind of got me in a corner, almost, and started talking about like things he wanted to do to me, kind of like rape kind of things, you know, kind of like oral sex." 5 RP Trial 841-42. She had never met Hutchinson before. Her description was of a stranger who wanted to engage in non-consensual sexual intercourse of her. RCW 9A.44.010. Another word for what she described was that defendant Hutchinson communicated that he wanted to rape her. RCW 9A.44.060. This communication was sufficient to uphold Hutchinson's conviction for communicating with RE.

RE's testimony included subsequent immoral communications of both a sexual nature and non-sexual nature. She testified that after defendant Hutchinson initiated the rape-charged contact with her, defendant Young pretended to tell Hutchinson to back off. 5 RP Trial

845-48. But in a very short period of time, defendant Young forced RE to go with both of them to a bank to commit check fraud, under threat of harm by a gun. 5RP Trial 848-51, 858-59. The defendants also forced RE to withdraw a total of \$260 from her account and give it to the defendants. 5 RP Trial 858. Defendant Young ensured that they could continue communicating with RE by putting his phone number in her phone's contact application with the code initials "YG". 6 RP Trial 873-75. Although RE never saw the two defendants face to face again, she communicated further with defendant Young by voice and text telecommunication. 6 RP 878. She initiated some of the communications by calling about getting her money back. Defendant Young answered and told her that he would meet her at a Federal Way bus station. 6 RP 878. She also received sexual text messages and messages from him about how she could earn as much as \$3,000.00 to \$5,000.00 a day from prostitution. 6 RP 878-80, 914. "I thought he was talking about drug dealing and so I kind of asked him like, "What are you talking about" kind of thing, and he brought up prostitution. And I wasn't down for anything like that at all." 6RP Trial 879. This communication is sufficient to uphold Young's conviction for communicating with RE.

Fortunately the defendants did not lure RE into prostitution as they had with CB. However, when what happened to CB is considered alongside what nearly happened to RE, a reasonable inference can be

drawn that the defendants were engaged in a common scheme or plan to induct young girls into the prostitution trade, and perhaps the reason they moved on from RE to CB was that they encountered another less cautious, more willing sixteen year old girl to victimize. CP Hutchinson 293. CP Young 42. 2 RP Trial 248. Thus, evidence of what happened to CB is also relevant to whether there was sufficient evidence of the crime committed against RE.

CB testified that she met the defendants at a transit stop as had RE. 2RP Trial 251. They first asked her to commit check fraud by cashing a check through her account. 2 RP Trial 253-55. The defendants then accompanied CB to her home and thereby conveyed to her that they knew where she and her family lived. 2 RP Trial 261. She gave them her number and put defendant Hutchinson's number into her phone under an alias. 2 RP Trial 264-68. Thereafter CB communicated with the defendants, and in particular with defendant Hutchinson, by voice and text telecommunications. 2RP Trial 268-70 The subject of the communications referenced the check fraud: "Well, they needed to get the rest of the money." The defendants went to CB's father's house, picked her up and tried to get money from her bank account, then forced her to work as a juvenile prostitute for them. 2 RP Trial 270-76.

Considering the graphic, and at times violent, and disturbing testimony about what the defendants did to sixteen year old CB, there was more than sufficient evidence from which the jury could infer that the defendants' motive for communicating with both of the two teenage girls was "immoral purposes of a sexual nature." CP Hutchinson 241-291, CP Young 47-97, Instructions Nos. 44 and 45.

The evidence showed that the defendants preyed on young girls they found at bus stops, by talking to them, using fear to gain control over them, involving them in fraudulent activities, with the ultimate goal of getting them to work as prostitutes. The fact that defendants did not succeed in getting RE to work as a prostitute is immaterial. It surely cannot be said that no rational trier of fact could have found that the State proved all of the elements of the crime of communicating as to RE beyond a reasonable doubt.

3. DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED ERROR OR ACTED IMPROPERLY BY ESTABLSIHING WHO WAS PRESENT AT A PRE-TRIAL INTERVIEW OF A WITNESS.

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial error<sup>2</sup> a defendant must show that the prosecutor's action was improper and prejudicial. *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 26, 195 P.3d 940(2008). A prosecutor's action is prejudicial "only where 'there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury's verdict.' "*State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 774-75, 168 P.3d 359(2007), citing, *State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221(2006), quoting *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546(1997).

Personal attacks on defense counsel can constitute prosecutorial error. *State v. Reed*, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145–46, 684 P.2d 699 (1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 'In responding to the defendants' arguments, the State will use the phrase "prosecutorial error." The State urges this Court to use the same phrase in its opinions. 'Prosecutorial misconduct' is a term of art but is really a misnomer when applied to mistakes made by the prosecutor during trial." State v. Fisher, 165 Wn,2d 727, 740 n. 1, 202 P.3d 937(2009). Recognizing that words pregnant with meaning carry repercussions beyond the pale of the case at hand and can undermine the public's confidence in the criminal justice system, both the National District Attorneys Association (NDAA) and the American Bar Association's Criminal Justice Section (ABA) urge courts to limit the use of the phrase "prosecutorial misconduct" for intentional acts, rather than mere trial error. See American Bar Association Resolution 100B (Adopted Aug. 9-10, 2010), http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/migrated/leadership/2010/annual/pdfs/100b .authcheckdam.pdf (last visited Aug. 29, 2014); National District Attorneys Association, Resolution Urging Courts to Use "Error" Instead of "Prosecutorial Misconduct" (Approved April 10 2010), http://www.ndaa.org/pdf/prosecutorial misconduct final.pdf (last visited Aug. 29, 2014). A number of appellate courts agree that the term "prosecutorial misconduct" is an unfair phrase that should be retired. See, e.g., State v. Fauci, 282 Conn. 23, 917 A.2d 978, 982 n. 2 (2007); State v. Leutschaft, 759 N.W.2d 414, 418 (Minn. App. 2009), review denied, 2009 Minn. LEXIS196 (Minn., Mar. 17, 2009); Commonwealth v. Tedford, 598 Pa. 639, 960 A.2d 1, 28-29 (Pa.2008).

Comments that permit the jury "to nurture suspicions about defense counsel's integrity" can deny a defendant's right to effective representation. *State v. Neslund*, 50 Wn. App. 531, 562, 749 P.2d 725, *review denied*, 110 Wn.2d 1025 (1988). The defendant bears the burden of demonstrating that a prosecutor's action was improper and its effect prejudicial. *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 564-65, 940 P.2d 546(1997). "Reversal is not required if the error could have been obviated by a curative instruction which the defense did not request." *Id.* at 565, quoting *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), *cert. denied*, 514 U.S. 1129, 115 S. Ct. 2004, 131 L. Ed. 2d 1005 (1995).

In this case, questions from the prosecutor of CB on re-direct prompted an objection from both defense counsel. On direct, defendant Hutchinson's counsel had questioned CB from a transcript about statements that she had made during a pre-trial interview. On re-direct, the prosecutor asked a series of questions about CB's memory of the interview and the circumstances in which it had been given:

Q [CB], I want to start off where defense counsel just left off. He asked you a question about a specific entry in an interview you did with defense counsel September 27th of this year; is that correct?

#### A. Yeah.

Q So that's about three months ago, almost, two and a half months ago. Where were you when you participated in that interview?

- A Here.
- Q And who was present?
- A There was like four different people in there.
- Q Do you remember who they were?
- A No.
- Q Were the defense attorneys present?
- A One of them was, I think.
- Q Which one?
- A The one I just talked to.
- Q And the other one, Ms. Corey, was not?
- A No.
- 4 RP Trial 571

No objection was made by either defense counsel to the foregoing foundational questions. 4 RP Trial 571. It was only when the prosecutor sought to complete the foundation as to who CB remembered as having been present that counsel for defendant Hutchinson objected. 4 RP Trial 572. The objection was to relevance. It was immediately joined by defendant Young and was immediately overruled. *Id.* No curative instruction was requested. Later, both defense counsel moved for a mistrial. 4 RP Trial 592-96.

Nothing in the prosecutor's foundational question can be said to have disparaged either defense attorney. No questions were asked that could be said to highlight a lack of questioning of CB or to suggest that the defense attorney was unaware of facts that she should have been aware of. Accordingly, there is no showing that the prosecutor's questions were error, much less error that created a "substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury's verdict.' " *State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 774-75, 168 P.3d 359(2007), citing, *State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221(2006), quoting *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546(1997).

During a subsequent mistrial motion, the defense attorney claimed that the prosecutor's foundation question was intended as criticism of her preparation for trial. 4 RP Trial 592-96. That claim was so out of context that the trial court had to ask, "What exactly was the disparagement that you heard?" 4 RP Trial 594. After the defense attorney explained what she was referring to, the court stated, "Well, I can certainly prohibit Mr. Greer from arguing to the jury that your not attending that interview means your client is guilty. I'll direct Mr. Greer not to make that argument." 4 RP Trial 595.

In this case, the prosecutor's questions were not intended to, and did not in fact, disparage defense counsel's preparation. The prosecutor merely placed before the jury proper evidence of CB's memory of the

defense interview in preparation for asking her questions about certain statements that she had made during the interview. In light of the defense attorney's overall performance during the trial, including thorough and lengthy cross examinations of all of the state's witnesses, the argument that the questions was prejudicial or that it had an effect on the jury's verdict is not supported by the record.

4. THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT PROSECUTORIAL ERROR BY REFERRING THE JURY TO ITS WORKING COPIES OF THE INSTRUCTIONS OR BY ARGUING THAT THE EVIDENCE SHOWED THE DEFENDANTS ACTIONS SHOWED THEY WERE ACCOMPLICES OF EACH OTHER.

The standard of review for allegedly improper comments during closing argument requires that the comments be reviewed in context.

State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). The comments are examined in light of the entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given. Id. at 86.

State v. Graham, 59 Wn. App. 418, 428, 798 P.2d 314 (1990), State v.

Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 810, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006).

Prejudice from allegedly improper prosecution argument is established only where "there is a substantial likelihood that the instances of misconduct affected the jury's verdict." *State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003), quoting *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 672, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). Where no objection is made at trial, a defendant is

deemed to have waived any error and must show not only improper conduct and prejudice, but must also show that the alleged error was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 754, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

A prosecutor is permitted latitude to argue the facts in evidence draw reasonable inferences from the evidence and express those inferences to the jury. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 727, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), citing *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d51, 94–95, 804 P.2d 577 (1991), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998), and *State v. Fiallo-Lopez*, 78 Wn. App. 717, 726, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995). A prosecutor may also argue the jury instructions but may not misstate the law. *State v. Allen*, \_\_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_, 341 P.3d 268, 273(2015).

The prosecutor in this case utilized the actual jury instructions as his outline for his closing argument. Each juror had a copy of the instructions for reference and to which the attorneys could direct his or her attention. 9 RP Trial 1416.

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